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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Roxbury, a two~story frame house completed in 1861, stands on a ridge near
the Rappahannock River in Westmoreland County. The T-shaped building consists of
a two-bay section parallel to the road, with a larger three-bay section set perpen-
dicular to, and behind it. The entrances are in the larger section and open into
a cross-hall at the junction of the two parts. The principal (east) entrance is
sheltered by a one-story porch supported on coupled, bracketed columns and stretching
the length of the stem. A similar porch, but covering only the doorway, shelters
the rear entrance. All of the windows have six-over-six sash and, on the south and
east sides, louvred blinds. The whole is surmounted by steeply pltched gable roofs
with deep projecting eaves and-gables. Two large gabled dormers break the outer plane
of the south wing roof, with three similar dormers on each slope of the north wing
roof. Small sawnwork ormaments are fastened at the apex of each roof and dormer gable,
and each wing-has a central chimney with four square stacks set in a lozenge pattern
and joined at their corbelled caps.

A one-story, one room kitchen ell at the morth end of the house, a one~story
screen porch at the south, and demi-octagonal bay windows at either end of the south
wing, all dating from the early twentieth century, are the only significant alterations
to the exterior of Roxbury, :

The plan of Roxbury is a complex one., The south wing, with two unequal sized
rooms--a library at the west and a larger parlor at the east--is separated from the
rooms in the north block by an entrance cross-passage. As one moves north from the
passage, there is a dining rcom, a large kitchen, and, at the northwest corner, the
small kitchen ell, A secondary passage, stretching along the west wall between the
cross~-passage and the kitchen, contains the stair.

Despite its picturesque exterior, the interior of Roxbury is relatively plain,
with architectural embellishment confined primarily to the fireplace treatments and to

the molded plaster cornices used in the parlor, library, cross-passage, and dining room.

The parlor mantel is a plain, light-grey marble piece consisting of broad pi-
lasters supporting a plain frieze with a cambered soffit.

In the library, another light-grey marble mantel, this one with a round arched
opening accented by beveled, triangular spandrel panels and a central console acting
visually as a keystone for the arch and as a corbel for the shelf, is mounted on the
projecting chimney breast. Built into the recesses at either Slde cof the fireplace
are a pair of Gothic-style bookcases. Each of these has in its tall upper section four

glass doors, the heads of which form a pair of Tudor arches, with four plain doors be-

low. A crenezllated cornice surmounts each bookcase, Also worthy of note is the mid-
nineteenth-century floral carpet which remains in this room.

The cross-passage is notable for the curving screen wall at the east end, which
provides for closets at either side of the entry and, in addition, creates an in-
directly lighted entrance vestibule of dramatic effect, :

Inu the dining room, a light-grey marble mantel similar to that in the library,
‘ (See continuation sheet #2)
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

" Completed in 1861, it conforms stylistically to the type of house popularized by

Roxbury is a notable example of a mid-Victorian house in the picturesque mode.

the nineteenth-century architect and theorist Calvert Vaux, a follower of Andrew
Jackson Downing. In his widely read book, Villas and Cottages (1857), Vaux out-
lined how close adherence to Gothic, Greek, and Italian precedents could produce

a house impractical for comfort., "The English country houses and cottages have
undoubtedly claims to our best consideration. . .," he declared. While Vaux's
designs are accented with historical motifs, they are highly original compositions
and avoid the strict historicism of the romantically imspired houses of the pre-

vious decades.

Dwellings following Vaux's formulas are relatively common in northern states,
but they are extremely rare in the South, especially in Virginia. The building of
fine houses in Virginia all but ceased with the outbreak of the War Between the States
and remained at a halt through Reconstruction. Roxbury is thus an important arch-
itectural document for irs time and place. With its asymmetrical plan and many-gabled
roof, it meets Vaux's definitions of "irregular' and "picturesque." While sophisticated
in concept and execution, no architect has been directly associated with its design;
the house may, in fact, have been designed by an area builder working with a pattern

book by Vaux or cone of his contemporaries.

Roxbury was built for Dabney Carr Wirt (1814/15-1888), oldest brother of William
Wirt, Jr. and son of William Wirt, the noted jurist, statesman and author., William
Wirt, Jr. was the builder of Wirtland, an outstanding Gothic Revival mansion located
less than a mile away. Because of the proximity of these fine houses, the ridge on
which they are located was known locally as 'Quality Ridge." Although the architecture
of the two houses is dissimilar, they may have shared designers or artisans,

‘Dabney Carr Wirt was married to Julia Augusta Washington, a relative of the first
Fresident, Her branch of the family remained in Westmoreland County and occupied the
Washington ancestral landholdings on the Potomac. The sixty~three acres forming the
original Roxbury estate were owned in 1840 by Eliza Collins and had buildings there
valued at $500. The buildings were destroyed by fire in 1842, and in 1850 the property
was sold to H. T. Garnett. In 1852 he transferred the property with a building valued
at $100 to Juliet Washington, mother of Julia Washington Wirt. (The $100 building
was probably the log kitchen/laundry that stands near the house today.) It was Juliet
Washington who paid fecr the construction of the existing mansion yhich in 1861 was
valued at $3000. It is in the books of that date that the property is first referred to
&s Roxburyfhe house and land remained in Juliet Washington's name until 1872 when the
title was transferred to Dabney Wirt, who had been living there since its completion.

(See continvation Sheet number 3)
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VERBAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION
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north, and the edge of the front field on the east.
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but with an intevesting shell figure carved into the central bracket, is used.
In the kitchen is a very plain wooden mantel with unadorned pilasters.and a
frieze with a cambered soffit. The open-string stair, in its narrow passage,
has a molded rail, bulbous turned newel, and two turned balusters to a tread,

One early cutbuilding survives--a mid-nineteenth-century, story-and-a-
half double-pen structure built of logs with dovetail and half-dovetail notch-
ing. There are five openings in the facade--doors at the ends, and six-over-
six windows in the inner bays; in addition, there is- a central door which
provides direct access to the stair, which is built against the central brick
chimney and which is also accessible from both room:. The gables are weather-
boarded, and the roof is covered with pressed tin with shingle impressions.
There are two gabled dormers with six-over-six sash in each plane of the roof.
The interior is characterized by plain whitewashed joists, Greek-Revival window
trim, and a chimney wall partition of beaded horizontal boards in the south
room. The building was designated an office on a 1909 plat map in the possession
of the owners,

DTU

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION
The boundaries are drawn to include the house and its immediate yard. Also, the

field to the east is included , as it was originally graded to make an ovderly
vista to and from the house.
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Around the turn of the century, Roxbury was purchased by F. W, Alexander of
New Hampshire who after settling there inaugurated the original movement to ac-
quire and restore Stratford Hall., Alexander was the author of a book on Stratford
and the Lee family. Alexander's widow, Lesbia Spilman Alexander, carefully
maintained Roxbury until 1960 when it was acquired by Ingleside Plantation

Nurseries, Inc. Today it is maintained as a residence for .a member of the Flemer
family, proprietors of the nursery.
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